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l. EQUAL TREATMENT FOR WATERGATE DEFENDANTS
(See also 'Integrity of the Law'' at page 8)

QUESTION: Is it an unjust denial of equal treatment to refuse to pardon
the Watergate defendants?

ANSWER: The situation of former President Nixon is very different
from that of the Watergate defendants, especially those awaiting trial, */
The Nixon situation is unique.

l. Previous Official Determination., Richard Nixon has already been
found unanimously by the House Judiciary Committee to have engaged in
substantial misbehavior,

2, Punishment Already Suffered. To resign from the Presidency is
a disgrace in history and in the eyes of the people. To be raised to this
office, especially by a landslide vote, is to be honored extraordinarily, To
leave it under the circumstances in which Richard Nixon did, is to be
punished more than any other American leader has. To be sure, there is
punishment in any fall from grace, but the depth of Richard Nixon's fall is
unique,.

3. Public Contribution, In dispensing mercy we should look not only
to a man's transgressions but also to his contributions to the public welfare,
There may not be unanimous acclaim for Richard Nixon's policies, but perhaps
even his severest critics admit that some of his policies advanced the public
interest and contributed to world peace, Such contributions are a matter of
degree, but Richard Nixon's situation is unique.

4, Public Distress or Polarization. Many Americans would be distressed
over the indictment and the appearance 'in the dock' of a former President, ** /
Because, moreover, a substantial number of Americans would feel strongly
alienated from any such proceedings, the possibility of political polarization
is real.

The cumulative effect is to make Richard Nixon's situation unique. Perhaps
some or many will disagree, but perhaps most Americans can understand why
I think the Nixon case is different,

ALTERNATIVE QUESTION: Since all the others were involved in the same
crime, ostensibly at the behest of their pardoned leader, how can you justify
trying them now?

ANSWER: We cannot know whether the facts about the role of these other
defendants are as you state them until there is a trial., When the facts become
known, they can be taken into account in the usual way after trial in sentencing
and in normal clemency procedures. Those who occupy a position of public
trust in the service of a President are morally responsible for theil

.

own actions.

#*/ and **/ on the following page
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Footnotes from 1.

* You might be asked about the Watergate defendants' suggestion that an
1856 Supreme Court case implies that a pardon for one is a pardon for
all, You should not comment on a defendant's legal argument to the
court,

*¥%/ Some might think that such distress would reflect an excessive and

unwise mystique surrounding Presidents and former Presidents, but
it seems to be a fact.
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2, PARDONING WATERGATE DEFENDANTS: "THE STUDY"

QUESTION: Will you now pardon the Watergate defendants facing trial?
ANSWER: The normal processes of justice will be followed.
FOLLOWUP QUESTION: Does that mean you have decided against any future

clemency for (a) those already convicted who have either completed or are
now serving their sentences, or (b) those who may be convicted in the future?

ANSWE‘R: The only thing I have decided is that the usual processes should
be followed. If I point out that those normal processes include published
regulations on Pre;idential clemency, please do not infer that I am
contemplating future clemency.
QUESTION: You said that pardon for Dean and other Watergate defendants
is being considered. Did you consider blanket pardoning? If not, what was
being studied? 1Is the study complete? What is the result?
ANSWER:

l. I never contemplated blanket pardons and certainly no general
pretrial clémency.

2, The Nixon case is unique, (See elaborated answer on this point,)

3. I did want an' examination of proper proceduresv for processing
any clemency petitions that are in fact received,

-4, The proper procedure is that any convi;’ced person may applrf

through the Department of Justice in the usual manner,
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3. BACKGROUND: USUAL CLEMENCY PROCEDURE

Under published regulations, after conviction and sentencing one ordinarily
applies for Executive Clemency through the Department of Justice. Upon
receipt of the petition, the Attorney General uses the Office of the Pardon
Attorney and reviews the request, conducts whatever investigation is
necessary, and then forwards recommendations to the White House.

Before petitioning for a pardon, one who has been imprisoned must ordinarily,
under existing regulations, wait three years -- or five in certain cases*/ --
after his release. (Nothing prevents the Attorney General from making
appropriate adjustments in this requirement or from amending his regulations
generally.) There is no fixed waiting period for requests for the commutation
of a sentence. (Commutation is usually granted only when other relief is not
available from a court or parole board, but exceptions are provided for in the
regulations. )

The President does not ordinarily review personally each clemency
recommendation from the Justice Department. There are too many of them,
Under past practice #%/ Justice Department recommendations were reviewed
by White House counsel who could forward them for personal Presidential
attention where .,necessary.

%/ Such as perjury or the violation of a public trust involving personal
dishonesty. .

*%/ We do not necessarily want to commit ourselves to preserving this
practice.




4, OUTSIDE CLEMENCY REVIEW

QUESTION: Would it not be better to have the Special Prosecutor's
Office or independent advisors outside of the government make recommendations
relating to clemency petitions from Watergate defendants?

ANSWER:

l. The Office of the Pardon Attorney was established to process petitions
for clemency so that the individuals who prosecute an individual are not the
same ones deciding whether he should get clemency. The prosecutorial role
of the Special Prosecutor could be inconsistent with the role of evaluating a
petition for clemency,

2. Processing petitions for clemency is not a part of the responsibility
of the Special Prosecutor as set forth in the regulations for the Department
of Justice,

3. Although outside review by persons outside of the government does
have certain advantages, there should be a presumption in favor of regular
procedures. And I have no reason to believe that this function is not best
performed by those persons who do it on a regular basis. They do,
incidentally, in the process of preparing their recommendations, solicit
the cpinion of the prosecutor and make appropriate additional inguiries.

4. Note: As to any fear that the Pardon Attorney (who was appointed
during the Nixon administration) might be too lenient with regard to Nixon
administration officials involved in Watergate: I have no reason to think
so. The Attorney General will, of course, take appropriate steps to insure
impartial consideration, Furthermore, Justice Department recommendations
will be reviéwed in the White House.

5. Note: As to any fear that the usual standards for Justice Department
clemency recommendations are too restrictive or too harsh: I am confident
that the Justice Department administers its clemency.responsibility
conscientiously and if any change in its procedures or standards are warranted,
I am sure that the Attorney General and the Deputy Attorney General will
consider them, '

-4




5-

GETTING THE FACTS OUT

QUESTION: Does the pardon mean that the people and the history will

never know the full facts about Richard Nixon's possible crimes or other
misbehavior in office? */ Is the pardon another coverup?

ANSWER:

l. The American people already know a great deal about the Nixon

Presidency.

2. The House Judiciary Committee has published its official findings

on Richard Nixon's behavior in office,

3. The pardon does not itself preclude any report on all matters within

the Speccial Prosecutor's jurisdiction, at a time and in a manner consistent
with his responsibilities.

(a) The Special Prosecutor alr eady has the materials
related to the Watergate coverup.

(b) An;r other needed information may well be available in
connection with other proceedings and, wherever Mr., Nixon himself
is a witness, the pardon prevents any Fifth Amendment claim to
silence based on the possibility of incrimination under Federal law,

(c) It is possible that other arrangements for access to the
Nixon files might be worked out, I myself have long urged and will
continue to urge full disclosure by Mr,. Nixon,

»

Another form for this question:

-

Do you agree with former Special Prosecutor Cox that "the guilt or
innocence of a high official charged with crime, especially a President,
should be determined once and for all by the established procedures

of justice in order to lay to rest claims of political vendetta, To _
short circuit the process invites endless uncertainty and division, "

K‘?ﬁ?\
Q : <. “1‘,
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6. KNOWING WHAT WAS PARDONED: PARDON SCOPE

QUESTION: Was it wise to pardon Richard Nixon without knowing what,
if any, offenses he might have committed?

ANSWER: The Watergate coverup charges are pretty well known and I
did have information from the Special Prosecutor's office that not even
probabl.e criminal guilt could be established with respect to an additional
10 specified allegations concerning Mr, Nixon,

FOLLOWUP QUESTION: Does that mean that evidence of crime in these
or any other now-unspecified matters might not turn up in the future?

ANSWER: One can never be certain what will appear in the future, */

QUESTION: A pardon for Watergate can be understood to serve a national

purpose, but why a pardon that covers possible tax fraud as well? Wouldn't
the nation be better served by.a demonstration that even a President cannot
cheat on his taxes?

ANSWER: What really mattered was Watergate and the resulting harassment
of the former President., Anything less than a full pardon would have left
open the door to continued attacks and would have defeated my purpose

which is to put this whole affair behind us.

*/ Note: This is a very troublesome point, ' It would be unwise to make any

predictions or estimates that additional and significant improprieties rmight
not yet appear.
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7. TIMING

QUESTION: Why did you grant the pardon when you did? Wouldn't it have
been better to wait (1) until indictment, if any, and trial of Nixon, (2) until
wider consultation with Congress and the public, or (3) until the jury in the
Watergate trials is sequestered?
ANSWER:
l. Oncel had decided that Mr, Nixon should, as an act of mercy, be
spared any imprisonment, there seemed to be no reason to open him and
the American people to the distress of a trial,*/ Under these circumstances,
a trial seemed unnecessarily harassing and vindictive toward him and pardon
NOTE: See separate answers on
-~ getting the facts out
-~ getting a judicial determination of standards
* -- what was pardoned
2. More consultation might have been preferable, **%/ but I never
doubted the wide diversity of views on this subject, Consensus did not
seem possible,
3. Some may think that a pardon for Nixon before the jury is sequestered
in the Watergate trials might possibly be thought prejudicial to the defendants,

but that is a matter for the courts to decide, Accordingly, further comment

on this point by me seems inappropriate,.

% /Does not explain failure to wait for an indictment,

- both substance or form, but you had advice of counsel and
judgment on youtr own fundamental conception of mercy anflvon broaé-
considerations of the national interest. 1 2

%) ;
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8. INTEGRITY OF THE LAW

QUESTION: Doesn't the pardon mean that significant personages violate
the law with impugnity while the more humble suffer the law's full rigors? %/

ANSWER: This concern is understandable but

l. All persons -- Presidents included -- are subject to the law.
And I believe that the law has triumphed in Watergate, It has routed out
and put a stop to the Watergate wrongs,

2. Ina very real sense the nation has rendered a verdict on
Richard Nixon.

-

3. Clemency is also a part of our system of law. To pardon is to forgive
and not to excuse the conduct that may have been involved,

4. It is a unique act of mercy for a man

(a) whose conduct has already been found unacceptable but

(b) who has already suffered greatly

(c) who has surely contributed to the public interest in some
respects, and

(d) whose trial would have distressed many of the public.

5. The whole Watergate situation is unique,

»

ALTERNATIVE QUESTION: Is this pardon a precedent that no President
should ever be tried for his possible crimes?
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9., JUDICIAL DETERMINATION OF STANDARDS

QUESTION: Doesn't the pardon mean that the courts will never have the
occasion to define appropriate standards of conduct for Richard Nixon and
other Presidents?

ANSWER:

1, The courts are not the exclusive instititution by which gover nmental
standards of conducted are determined, */

2., The courts may have occasion to consider such standards in other cases,

3. The House Judiciary Committee has already made historically
significant determinations of this sort,

4, The proper standards of behavior seem quite clear with respect to
most Watergate related matters, ¥*/

»

%/ Constitutional history and other institutions have a very major role in
this process.

*%/ Whether this is true with respect to the ten other matters of the
Special Prosecution Force, most cannot be fully known at this stage,




10. YOUR CREDIBILITY

QUESTION: What do you plan to do to restore your credibility and
regain the trust of the American people?

ANSWER: I hope that my credibility is not lost., The country knows that contro-
versial decisions are not always popular.. And I have changed my mind on

this question. ButI hope that even those who disagree with my decision
understand that every statement I have made on this subject represented my
.genuine thinking at the time, Candor is the basis of trust, as I intend to

go on speaking sincerely, even when I change my mind.

-10-



1. CHANGE OF MIND: PUBLIC REACTION: AGONY INTENSIFIED

QUESTION: Do you now believe that you were correct at your last press
conference when you said a pardon now would be unwise and untimely?

ANSWER: As I have said, I reconsidered my earlier judgment and came to
believe that a pardon was a proper act of mercy that best serves the interests

of the nation., I fully understand that it would have been better for me
politically to have stayed with my earlier position, but that is not my criterion,

QUESTION: Did you consider or suspect the public reaction that actually
occurred to your pardon of former President Nixon?

ANSWFR: I knew there would be great concern, I did not try to predict
its extent, because I believed and still believe that the grant of mercy was

the right thing for me to do,

QUESTION: Hasn't the pardon intensified national agony as much as
a trial of the former President would have?

ANSWER: Although the matter is not cdpable of clear proof either way, I
believe that the adverse national consequences of a Nixon trial and péssible

additional punishment would have been much greater,

~11- ' W



12, NIXON HEALTH: PREPARE THE PUBLIC

QUESTION: Was the timing dictated by what you viewed as a health
emergency?

ANSWER: As I said in my speech‘, the former President's health was

a factor, but not in the sense of an emergency. My concern is for the
very long time needed to start and complete a trial, and once the decision
was made, the sooner the better,

FOLLOWUP QUESTION: If not, why did you not do something to prepare
the American public for your reversal instead of acting precipitously?

ANSWER: In a matter this controversial there is not much that can be done
to '"prepare' the public as you put it, AllI could do was to explain my

reasoning openl';r and candidly, which I did.

~12-



13, "DEAL"

QUESTION: The concern has been expressed here and there that the
pardon arose from some ''deal, "

ANSWER: There was no deal. Had there been any such deal I would not
have indicated at my last press conference that indictment and other legal
process should probably precede a pardon,

QUESTION: Is it true, as reported in the press, that Haig and Kissinger
conveyed Nixon's desire for a pardon to you indirectly before he resigned?

Did you indicate to him in any way that you would grant a pardon?

ANSWER:

QUESTION: When did you decide to pardon the former President?

ANSWER:

-13-



PRESS CONFERENCE NO. 2
of the

PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES

8:00 P.M. EDT
September 16, 1974
Monday

In the East Room
At the White House
Washington, D.C.

THE PRESIDENT: Please sit down.

Ladies and gentlemen, this press conference is
being held at a time when many Americans are observing the
Jewish pelipious new year. It begins a period of self-
examination and reconciliation. 1In opening this press
conference, I am mindful that the spirit of this holy day
has a meaning for all Americans.

In examining one's deeds of the last year and
in assuming responsibility for past actions and personal
decisions, one can reach a point of growth and change. The
purpose of looking back is to go forward with a new and
enlightened dedication to our highest values.

The record of the past year does not have to
be endlessly relived, but can be transformed by commitment
to new insights and new actions in the year to come.

Ladies and gentlemen, I am ready for your
questions.

Mr. Cormier.

QUESTION: Mr. President, some Congressional
Republicans who have talked to you have hinted that you
may have had a secret reason for granting President Nixo
a _pardon sooner than you indicated you would at the last
news conference, and I wonder if you could tell us what
that reason was.

THE PRESIDENT: At the outset, let me say I
had no secret reason, and I don't recall telling any
Republican that I had such a reason. Let me review quickly,
if I might, the things that transpired following the last
news conterence.

MORE
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Page 2

As many of you know, I answered two, maybe
three questions concerning a pardon at that time. On
return to the office, I felt that I had to have my counsel
undertake a thorough examination as to what my right of
pardon was under the Constitution. 1 also felt that

1t was very important that I find out what legal actions,
1f any, were contemplated by the Special Prosecutor.

That information was found out, and it was
indicated to me that the possibility exists, the very
real possibility that the President would be charged with

obstructing justice and ten other possible criminal
actions.

In addition, I asked my general counsel to
find out,if he could, how long such criminal proceedings
would take, from the indictment, the carrying on of the
trial, et cetera, and I was informed that this would
take a year, maybe somewhat longer, for the whole process
to go through.

I also asked my counsel to find out whether
or not under decisions of the judicial system a fair
trial would be given to the former President.

After I got that information, which took two
or three days, I then began to evaluate, in my own mind,
whether or not I should take the action, which I
subsequently did.

Miss Thomas. e

MORE
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QUESTION: Throughout your Vice Presidency,

you said that you didn't believe that former President
Nixon had ever committed an impeachable offense. Is
that still your belief or do you believe that his

acceptance of a pardon implies his guilt, or is an
admission of guilt?

THE PRESIDENT: The fact that 38 members of
the House Committee on the Judiciary, Democrat and
Republican, have unanimouslv agreed in the report that
was filed that the former President was guilty of an
impeachable offense, I think is very persuasive
evidence,

And the second question, I don't recall --

QUESTION: An admission of guilt?

THE PRESIDENT: Was the acceptance of the
pardon by the President an admission of guilt? “The
acceptance of a pardon, 1 think, can be construed DYy
many, if not all, as an admission ofgguilt.

Yes, Mr. Nessen.

QUESTION: What reports have you received on
Mr. Nixon's health, and what effect, if any, did this

THE PRESIDENT: I have asked Dr., Lukash, who
is the head physician in the White House,to keep me
posted i1n proper channels as to the former President's
health. 1 have been informed on a routine day-to-day

basis, but I don't think I am at liberty to give any
information as to those reports that I have received.

You also asked what impact did the President's
health have on my decision. 1 think it is well knowp
that just before I gave my statement at the time that
T gave the pardon 1 personally wrote in a phrase "the
Threat to the President's health,

The main concern that I had at the time I made
the decision was to heal the wounds throughout the
United States. For a period of 18 months or longer, we

had had turmoil and divisiveness in the American society.
At the same time, the United States had major problems

both at home and abroad that needed the maximum personal

attention of the President and many others Jin the Govern-
ment.

It seemed to me that as long as this divisiveness

continuedz this turmoil ex1stedz caused by the charges
and counter charges, the respongible people in the
Government could not give their total attention to the

problems that we had to solve at home and abroad.
] N, %1&%&‘
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Page 4

And the net result was that I was more

anxious to heal the Nation. That was the top priority.
I felt then, and I feel now, that the action I took

will do that. I couldn't be oblivious, however, to

news accounts that I had concerning the President's health,
but the major reason for the action.Itook related to the
effort to reconcile divisions in our country and to

‘heal the wounds that had festered far too long;

QUESTION: Mr. President, after you had told us
that vou were going to allow.ihe legal process to go on

e ———.

before vou decided whether to pardon Iims-silsuddd

s s ; o .
you decide on Sunday morning,abruptly, to pardon Presi- 7 e

dent "'Nixon?

THE PRESIDENT: I didn't decide abruptly. I
explained a moment ago the process that I went through
subsequent to the last press conference. When I had

assembled all of that information that came to me

through my counsel, I then most carefully analyzed the

situation in the country and I decided that we could not

afford in America an extended period of continued turmoil
and the fact that the trial, and all of the parts thereof,

would have lasted a year -- perhaps more -- with the

continuation of the d7% 1 1 ica, I felt that

divigione in Amerdi
1 should take the action that I did,promptlv and

effectively.

QUESTION: Mr. President, I would like to ask you
a question about the decision relating to custody of the
Nixon tapes and documents. Considering the enormous
interest that the Special Prosecutor's office had in
those documents for further investigation, I am wondering
why the negotiations with Mr. Nixon's representatives were
conducted strictly between the counsel in your office
without bringing in discussions with either Mr. Jaworski's

- representatives or those from the Justice Department.

THE PRESIDENT: In the first place, I did receive
a memorandum, or legal opinion, from the Department of
Justice which indicated that in the opinion of the
Department of Justice, the documents, tapes, the
ownership of them were in the hands of the former
President. Historically, that has been the case for all
Presidents.

Now, the negotiations for the handling of the
tapes and documents were undertaken and consummated by my
staff and the staff of the former President. I believe
that they have been properly preserved and they will be
available under subpoena for any criminal proceeding.

Now, the Special Prosecutor's staff has indicated some
concern. I am saying tonight that my staff is working with
the Special Prosecutor's staff to try and alleviate

any concerns that they have. I hope a satisfactory
arrangement can be worked out.

MORE
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QUESTION: Mr. President, during your

confirmation hearings as Vice President, you said that
you did not think that the country would stand for a

President to pardon his predecessor. Has your mind.been
changed about such public opinion?

THE PRESIDENT: In those hearings before

the Senate Committee on Rules and Administration, I

was asked a hypothetical question, and in answer to

that hypothetical question I responded by saying that

T did not think the American people would stand for such
an action.

Now that I am in the White House and don't
have to answer hxgothetical questions but have to
deal with reality, it was my judgment, after analyzing
all of the facts, that it was in the best interest of
the United States for me to take the action that 1 did.

I think if vou will reread what I said in
answer to that hypothetical gquestion, I did not say I

! I simply said that under the way the question
was phrased, the American people would object.

But I am absolutely convinced when dealing with
reality in this very, very ‘difficult situation, that
I made the right decision in an effort, an honest,
conscientious effort, to end the divisions and the
turmoil in the United States.

Mr. Lisagor.

QUESTION: Mr. President, is there any safe-
guard in the tapes agreement that was made with Mr. Nixon,
first,with their destruction in the event anything
happens to him, because under the agreement they will
be destroyed, and secondly, should not the tapes be
kept in the White House until the Special Prosecutor has
finished dealing with them?

THE PRESIDENT: The tapes and the documents
are still in our possession and we are, as I said a
moment ago, working with the Special Prosecutor's office,
to alleviate any concerns they have as to their disposition
and their availability.

The agreemen?¥ as to destruction is quite clear-
cut. As long as Mr. Nixon is alive and during the
period of time that is set forth, they are available for
subpoena by a court involving any criminal proceedings,
I think this is a necessary requirement for the protection
of evidence for any such action.

MORE
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QUESTION: Mr. President, recent Congress-
ional testimony has indicated that the CYA, under the
direction of a committee headed by Dr. Kissinger,
attempted to destablize the Government of Chile under
former President Allende.

Is it the policy of your Administration to
attempt to destabilize the governments of other
democragies?

THE PRESIDENT: Let me answer in general. I
think this is a very important question.

Our Government, like other governments, does
take certain actions in the intelligence field to help
implement foreign policy and protect national security. I
am informed reliably that Communist nations spend vastly
more money than we do for the same kind of purposes.

Now, in this plrtleular case, as'I understand
1t, and there is no doubt in my mind, our Government had no
involvement whatsoever in the Allende coup. To my
knowledge, nobody has charged that. The facts are we had
no involvement in any way whatsoever in the coup itself.

In a period of time, three or four years ago,
there was an effort being made by the Allende government
to destroy opposition news media, both the writing press
as 'well as the electronic press,and to destroy opposition
political parties.

The effort that was made in this case was:
to help and assist the preservation of opposition news-
papers and electronic media and to preserve opposition
political partles.

I think this is in the best 1nterest of the
people in Chile, and certalnly in our best 1nterest.

Now, may I add one further comment.

The 40 committee was established in: 1948 ‘It
has been in existence under Presidents since that time.
That committee reviewg every covert operation undertaken
by our Government,-and that: information is relayed to the
responsible Congressional committees where 1t 1s reviewed.
by House and Senate committees.

‘ : It seems to me- that the 40 . commlttee shculd
contlnue in existence, and I am going to meet with the
responsible Congressional ‘committees to 'see whether or-
not they want any -changes in ‘the rev1ew,pracesseso‘that
the Congress, as ‘well as the President, :are fully 1nformed
and are fully 1ncluded in the operations for any such -
action: - B
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QUESTION: In view of public reaction, do
you think the Nixon pardon really served to bind up the
Nation's wounds? 1 wonder if you would assess public
reaction to that move.

THE PRESIDENT: I must say that the decision
has created more antagonism than I anticipated. But as
T Took over the long haul with a trial or several trials
of a former President, criminal trials, the
possibility of a former President being in the dock so
to speak, and the divisions that would have existed not
Just for a limited period of time, but for a long

period of time, it seems to me that when I had the

cholce batween that possibility and the possibility of
taking direct actlon hoping to conclude it, I am
still convinced, despite the public reaction so far, that

the decision I made was the right one.

QUESTION: Mr. President, in regard to the
pardon, you talk about the realities of the situation.
Now those realities rightly or wrongly included a good
many people who speculate akcut whether or not there is
gsome sort of arrangement -- even some of them call a deal -~
between you and the former President or between your staff
and his staff, resignation in exchange for a full pardon.

The question is: Is there or was there, to
your knowledge, any kind of understanding about this?

THE PRESIDENT: There was no understanding, no
deal between me and the former 5resident, nor between my
staff and the staff of the former President, none
whatsoever.

QUESTION: Mr. President, there is a bill that
the Treasury Department has put forward, I think it is
about 38 pages. Under this bill, which deals with getting
held of the returns, Internal Revenue returns of the
citizens of the country, you could take action to get those
returns whenever you wanted to.

I wonder if you are aware of this, and if you
feel that you need to get those returns of citizens.

MORE
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THE PRESIDENT: It is my understanding that a
President has, by tradition and practice, and by law,
the right to have access to income tax returns. I
personally think that is something that should be kept
very closely held. A person's income tax return is
a very precious thing to that individual and, therefore,
I am about to issue an Executive Order that makes it even
more restrictive as to how those returns can be handled
and I do think that a proposed piece of legislation that ig
coming to me and subsequently will be submitted, as I
recollect, to the Congress would also greatly tighten up
the availability or accessibility of income tax returns.
I think they should be closely held and I can assure
you that they will be most judiciously handled as far as I
am concerned.

Yes.

QUESTION: Mr. President, looking beyond the Nixon
papers and 'in view of some criticism in Congress, do you believe
we may have now reached the point where Presidential
White House papers should remain in the Government's
hands as the property of the Government?

THE PRESIDENT: As far as I am personally
concerned, I can see a legitimate reason for Presidential
papers remaining the property of the Government. In my
own case, I made a decision some years ago to turn over
all of my Congressional papers, all of my Vice Presidential
papers to the University of Michigan archives.

As far as I am concerned, whether they go to the
archives for use or whether they stay the possession of the
Government, I don't think it makes too much difference.

I have no desire, personally, to retain whatever
papers come out of my Administration.

Mr. Mollenhoff.

QUESTION: Mr. President, at the last pregs,
conference you said, "The code of ethics that will be
followed will be the example that I set." Do you find
any eonflicts of interest in the decision to grant a
sweeping pardon to your life-long friend and your
financial benefactor with no consultation for advice
and judgment for the legal fallout?

THE PRESIDENT: The decision to grant a pardon
to Mr. Nixon was made primarily, as 1 have expressed, Tor
the purpose of trying to heal the wounds throughout the
country between Americans on one side of the issue or the
other. Mr. Nixon nominated me for the office of Vice
President. I was confirmed overwhelmingly in the House
as well as in the Senate. Every action I have taken,

Mr. Mollenhoff, is predicated on my conscience without

any concern or consideration as to favor as far gs I _am
goncerpned.

e 3¢ “?".;"u
MORE J¥
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Yes.

QUESTION: If your intention was to heal the
wounds of the Nation, sir, K_deld you grant only a
conditional amnesty to the Vietnam war veterans while
granting a full pardon to President Nixon?

THE PRESIDENT: The only connection between those
two cases is the effort that I made in the one to heal
the wounds 1nvolv1ng the charges against Mr. Nixon and my
honest and conecientious effort to heal the wounds

for_ those who had deserted military service or aoaged the

draft. That is the only connection between the two.

In one case, you have a
to re81gn because of circumstances involving his Administra-
tion and he has been shamed and dlsgraced by that ve31gna—
tion. In the case of the draftdodgers and Army and
military deserters, we are trying to heal the wounds by
the action that I took with the signing of the proclama-
tion this morning.

QUESTION: Mr., President, another concern that has
been voiced around the country since the pardon is that
the judicial process as it finally unwinds may not write
the definitive chapter on Watergate and perhaps with par-
ticular regard to Mr. Nixon's papticular involvement,
however total, however it may have been in truth, My
question is, would you consider appointing a special
commission with extraordinar owers to look into all of the

evidentiary material and to write that chapter and not
leave 1t to later history?

THE PRESIDENT: Well, it seems to me as I 1
at what has been done, I think you find a mass of evidence
that has been accummulated., In the first instance. vou
have the very intensive 1nvestlgatlon conducted by the
House Committee on the Judlclary. It was a very well-
conducted investigation. It came up with velumes of
information.

In addition, the Special Prosecutor's office
under Mr. Jaworskl has conducted an intensive lnvestlgatlon
and the Speclal Prosecutor’' s _office will issue a report at
the conclusion of their responsmbllltles that I think will
probably make additional information available to the
American people.

And thirdly, as the various criminal trials progeed
in the months ahead, there obviously will be additiopal

information made avallable to the American people. So,

when you see what has been done and what gngggh:gdlx
will be done, I think the full story will be made available
to the American people.

MORE
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QUESTION: Mr. President, could you give us an
idea who would succeed General Haig,and how are you
coming on your search for a Press Secretary?

THE PRESIDENT: Do I have a lot of candidates
here? (Laughter) No shows. (Laughter)

I have several people in mind to replace
General Haig, but I have made no decision on that. It
was just announced today that the NATO countries have
accepted him as the officer handling those responsibilities.

I think he is to take office succeeding General
Goodpaster ©on December 15. He assumes his responsi-
bilities as the head of U.S. military forces November 1.
In the next few days undoubtedly I will make the decision
as to the individual to succeed him.

So far as the Press Secretary is concerned,
we are actively working on that and we hope to have an
announcement in a relatively short period of time.

QUESTION: Mr. President, prior to your deciding
to pardon Mr. Nixon, did you have, apart from those
reports, any information either from associations of the
President or from his family or from any other source
about his health, about his medical condition?

THE PRESIDENT: Prior to the decision that I
made granting a pardon to Mr. Nixopy I had no other
specific information concerning his health other than
what I had read in the news media or heard in the news
media._“T had not gotten any information from any of the
Nixon family. The sole source was what 1 had read in
the news media plus one other fact.

On Saturday before the Sunday a member of my
staff was working with me on the several decisions I
had to make. He was, from my staff, the one who had
been in negotiations on Friday with the President and

his stait.

At the conclusion of decisions that were made,
I asked him, how did the President look, and he reported
to me his observations.

But other than what I had read or heard and
this particular incident, I had no precise information
concerning the President's health.

MORE
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QUESTION: Mr. President, your own economic
advisers are suggesting that to save the economy which
is very bad and very pessimistic, we are hearing the
word "depression" used now. I wonder how you feel about
whether we are heading for a depression?

THE PRESIDENT: Let me say very strongly that
the United States is not going to have a depression. The
overall economy of the United States is strong. Employment
is still high. We do have the problem of inflation. We
do have related problems, and we aregoing to come up with
some answers that I hope will solve those problems.

We are not going to have a depression. We are
going to work to make sure that our economy improves in" the
months ahead.

QUESTION: Mr, President, in the face of massive
food shortages and the prospects of significant starvation,
will the United States be able to significantly increase its
food aid to foreign countries, and what is our position
going to be at the Rome conference on participation in
the world grain reserves?

THE PRESIDENT: Within the next few days a
very major decision in this area will be made, I am not
at liberty to tell you what the answer will be because
it has not been decided.

But it is my hope that the United States for
humanitarian purposes will be able to increase its
contribution to those nations that have suffered because
of drought or any of the other problems related to human
needs.,

MORE
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QUESTION: Back to the CIA, under what inter-
national law do we have a right to attempt to destablize the
constitutionally-elected government of another country,
and does the Soviet Union have a similar right to try
to destabilize the Bovernment of Canada, for example, or
the United States?

THE PRESIDENT: I am not going to pass judgment
on whether it is permitted or authorized under
international law. It is a recognized fact that historically,
as well as presently, such actions are taken in the best
interest of the countries involved.

QUESTION: Mr. President, last month when you
assumed the Presidency, you pledged openness and candor.
fEst week you decided on the ex-President's pardon in

v1rtua11y total secrecy. Despite all _you have said tonight,
There would still seem to be some confu51on, some
contradiction.

My question is this: Are the watchwordc of
your Administration still openness and candor?

THE PRESIDENT: Without any question, without
any reservation. And I think in the one instance that
you cite, it was a sole decigion, and believe me, it
wasn't easy, and since I was the only one who could make
that de01sion; T thought T had to search my own_soul
after congulting with a limited number of people, and I
did it, and I think in the longrun it was the right
decision.

THE PRESS: Thank you, Mr. President.

END (AT 8:30 P.M., EDT)
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THE PRESIDENT: Please sit down.

Ladies and gentlemen, this press conference
_is being held at a time when many Americans are observing
the Jewish religious new year. It begins a period of self-
examination and reconciliation. In opening this press
conference, I am mindful that the spirit of this heoly day
has a meaning for all Americans.

et

. In examining one’s deeds o the last yea
and in assuming responsibility for past aeticns and personal
decisions, one can reach a point of growth and change. The
purpose of looking back is to go forwerd with a new and
enllghteneq dedication to our highest values.

4

+

I

The record of the past year does not have to
be endiessly relived, but can be transformed by commitment
to new insights and new actions in the yzar to conre,

, Ladies and,gentlemen, I am ready for your
questions, ' T

Mr. Cormier. ) .

QUESTION: Mr, President, some Congressional

Repub11cans who have *alked to you have hinted thet you
may have had a. secret reason for granting President Nixonm

a_ pardon socner than you indicated you womld at the last
news conference, and I wonder if you coulid Lell us what

i Fﬁ. .
that reeson was. o
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THE PRESIDENT: At the outset, let me say I
had no secret reason, and I don't recall telling any
Republican that I had such a réason. Let me review _
qulckly, if I might, the things that transplred follow-
ing the last news conference.

As many of you know, I answered two,
maybe three questions concerning a pardon at that time.
On return to the office, I felt that I had to have my
counsel undertake a therough examination as to what my
- pight of pardon was under the Constitution. I also felt
‘that it was very important that I find out what legal
actions, if any, were contemplated by the Special
Prosecutor.

That information was found out, and it was
indicated to me that the possibility exists, the very:
real possibility that the President would be charged with
obstructing justice and ten other possible criminal actions.

In addition, I asked my general counsel to
find out, if he could, how long such criminal proceedings
would take, from the indictment, the carrying cn of the
trial, et cetera, and I was informed that thls would
take a year, maybe somewhat longer, for the whole process
to go through. ' :

I also asked my counsel to find out whether
or not under decisions of the judicial system a fair
trial would be given to the former President. :

After I got that information, which took

- two or three days, I then began to evaluate, in my own
mind, whether or not I should taxe the actlon, which I
subsequently did.

Miss Thomas.

QUESTICON: Throughout your Vice Presidency,
you said that you didn't believe that former President
Nixon had ever committed an impeachable cffense. Is that
still your belief or do you believe that his acceptance
of a pardon implies his guilt, or is an acdmission of
guilt?
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THE PRESIDENT: The fact that 38 Members of

the House Committee on the Judieiary, Democrat and

Republican, have unanimously agreed in the report that
was filed that the former President was guilty of an
impeachable offense, I think is very persuasive
evidence. '

And the second question, I don't recall --
QUESTION: An admission of guilt?

: THE PRESIDENT: Was the acceptance of the
pardon by the President an admission of guilt? The
acceptance of a pardon, I think, can be construed by
many, if not all, as an admission of guilt.

. Yes, Mr. Nessen.
QUESTION: What reports have you received on
Mr. Nixon's health, and what effect, if any, did this

have on your decision to pardon him now?

THE PRESIDENT: I have asked Dr. Lukash, who
is the head physician in the White House, to keep me

posted in proper channels as to the former President's

health. I have been informed on a routine day-to-day
basis, but I don't think I am at liberty to give any
information as to those reports that I have received.

You also asked what impact did the President's
health have on my decision. I think it is well known that

Just before I gave my statement at the time that 1 gave

the pardon I personally wrote in a phrase "the threat to
the President's health." '

The main concern that I had at the time 1
made the decision was to heal the wounds throughout the
United States. For a period of 18 months or longer, we
had had turmoil and divisiveness in the American society.
At the same time, the United States had major problems
both at home and abroad that needed the maximum personal
attention of the President and many others in the Govern-

ment.
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It seemed to me that as long as this divisive=-
ness continued, this turmoil existed, caused by the charges
and counter charges, the responsible people in the Govern-
ment could not give their total attention to the problems’
that we had to solve at home and abroad.

And the net result ‘was that I was more anxious
to heal the Nation. That was the top priority. I felt
then,.and I feel now, that the action I took will do that.

* I couldn't be oblivious, however, to news accounts

that I had concerning the President's health, but the
major reason for the action I took related to the effort
to reconcile divisions in our country and to heal the

-wounds that had festered far too long.

QUESTION: Mr. President, after you had told us
that you were going to allow the legal process to go on
before you decided whether to pardon him, why did you
decide on Sunday mornlng, abruptly, to pardon Pre51dent
N*xon°

THE PRESIDENT: I didnft decide abruptly. I
explained a moment ago the process that I went through
subsequent to the last press conference. When I had
assembled all of that information that came to me through

my counsel, I then most carefully analyzed the situation

in the country and I decided that we could not afford in
America an extended period of continued turmoil and the fact

‘that the trial, and all of the parts thereof, would have-

lasted a year -~ perhaps more -- with the continuation of

~the divisions in America, I felt that I should take the

action that I did, promptly and effectively.

_ QUESTION: Mr. President, I would like to ask
you a question about the decision relatimg to custody of
the Nixon tapes and documents. Considering the enormous
interest that the Special Prosecutor s office had in
those documents for further investigation, I am wondering
why the negotiations with Mr. Nixon's representatives were
conducted strictly between the counsel in your office
without bringing in discussions with either Mr. Jaworski's
representatives or those from the Justice Department.
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THE PRESIDENT: In the first place, I did
receive a memorandum, or legal opinion, from the Department
of Justice which indicated that, in the opinion of the
Department of Justice, the documents, tapes, the owner-
ship of them were in the hands of the former President.
Historically, that has been the case for all Presidents.

Now, the negotiations for the handling of the

- tapes and documents were undertaken and consummated by my

staff and the staff of the former President. I believe
that. they have been properly preserved and they will be
available under subpoena for any criminal proceeding.

Now, the Special Prosecutor's staff has indicated some
concern., I am saying tonight that my staff is working with
the Special Prosecutor's staff to try and alleviate any
concerns that they have. I hope a satisfactory arrange-

ment can be worked out.

QUESTION: Mr. President, during. your confirma-
tion hearings as Vice President, you said that you did not
think that the country would stand for a President to
pardon his predecessor. Has your mind been changed about
such public opinion?

THE PRESIDENT: In those hearings before the
Senate Committee on Rules and Administration, I was
asked a hypothetical guestion, and in answer to that
hypcthetical question, I respondcd by saying that I did
not think the American people would stand for such an
action. :

Now that 1 am in the White House and don't
have to answer hypothetical questions but have to deal

" with reality, it was my judgment, after analyzing all of

the facts, that it was in the best interest of the United
States for me to take the action that I &id.

, I think if you will reread what I said in
answer to that hypothetical question, I did not say 1
wouldn't. I simply said that under the way the question
was phrased, the American people would ocbject. '
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But I am absolutely convinced when dealing with
reality in this very, very difficult situation, that I
made the right decision in an effort, an honest, con-
scientious effort, to end the d1v151ons and the turm011
in the United States.

Mr. Lisagor.

QUESTION: Mr. President, is there any safe-
guard in the tapes agreement that was made with Mr. Nixon,
- first, with their destruction in the event anything
happens to him, because under the agreement they will be
destroyed; and secondly, should not the tapes be kept
in the White House until the Special Prosecutor has finished
dea_ing with them? '

- THE PRESIDENT: The tapes and the documents
are still in our possession and we are, as I said a
moment ago, working with the Special Prosecutor's office,
to alleviate any concerns they have as to their disposition
and their availability.

The agreement as to destruction is quite clear-
cut. As long as Mr. Nixon is alive and during the period
of time that is set forth, they are available for subpoena
by a court involving any criminal proceedings. I think
this is a necessary requirement for the protcvtlon of
ev1dence for any such action.
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QUESTION: Mr. President, recent Congress-
ional testimony has indicated that the CIA, under the
direction of a committee headed by Dr. Kissinger, attempted
to destabilize the Government of Chile under former
President Allende. '

Is it the policy of your Administration to
attempt to destabilize the governments of other
democracies?

THE PRESIDENT: Let me answer in general. I~
think this is a very important question.

Our Government, like other governments, does
take certain actions in the intelligence.field to help
implement foreign policy and protect national security. I
am informed reliably that Communist nations spend vastly
more money than we do for the same kind of purposes.

Now,Ain this particular case, as I understand
1t and there is no doubt in my mind, our Government had no
1nvolvcment whatsoever in the Allende counp. To my
knowledge, nobody has charged that. The facts are we had
no involvement in any way whatsoever in the coup itself.

In a period of time, three or four years ago,
there was an effort being made by the Aliende government
to destroy opposition news media, both the writing press
as well as the electronic press, and to destroy opD051t10n
political partles.

The effort that was made in this case was

~ to help and assist the preservation of opposition news-
-.papers-and electronic media and to preserve opposition

political parties.

I think this is in the best interest of the
people in Chile, and certainly in our best interest.

Now, may I add one further comment .
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’ : : . _

The 40 committee was established in 19u48. It~
has been in existence under Presidents since that time.
That committee reviews every covert operation undertaken
by our Government, and that information is relayed to the
responsible Congressional committees where it is reviewed
by House and Senate committees.

_ It seems to me -that the 40 committee should
continue in existence, and I am going to meet with the
responsible Congressional committees to see whether or
not they want any changes in the review process soO that
.the Congress, as well as the President, avre fully informed
and are fully included in the operations for any such
action. :

QUESTION: 1In view of public reaction, do
you think the Nixon pardon really served to bind up the
Nation's wounds? I wonder if you would assess public
‘reaction to that move. - K

THE PRESIDENT: I must say that the decision
has created more antagonism than I anticipated. But as
I look over the long haul with a trial or several trials
of a former President, criminal trials, the possibility
of a former President being in the dock so to speak,
and the divisions that would have existed not just for a
limited period of time, but for a long period of time, it
seems to me that when I had the choice between that
possibility and the possibility of taking direct action
hoping to conclude it, I am still convinced, despite the
public reaction so far, that the decision I made was the
right one.

QUESTION: Mr. President, in regard to the
pardon, you talk about the realities of the situation.
Now those realities rightly or wrongly included a good
many people who speculate about whether or not there is
some sort of arrangement -- even some of them call a deal --
between you and the former President or between your
staff and his staff, resignation in exchange for a full.S
pardon. . F
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The question is: Is there or was there, to
your knowledge, any kind of understanding about this?

THE PRESIDENT: There was no understanding, no
deal between me and the former President, nor between my
staff and the staff of the former President, none
whatsoever.

QUESTION: Mr. President, there is a bill that

‘the Treasury Department has put forward, I think it is

about 38 pages. Under this bill, which deals with getting
hold of the returns, Internal Revenue returns of the
citizens of the country, you could take action to get those
retucons whenever you wanted to.

I wonder if you are aware of‘fhis, and if you
feel that you need to get those returns of citizens.

THE PRESIDENT: It is my understanding that a
President has, by tradition and practice, and by law,
the right to have access to income tax returns. I
personally think that is something that should be kept
very closely held. A person's income tax return is a
very precious thing to that individual and, therefore,
I am about to issue an Executive Order that makes it
even more restrictive as to how those returns can be handled
and I do think that a proposed piece of legislation that is
coming to me and subsequently will be submitted, as I
recollect, to the Ccngress would also greatly tighten up
the availability or accessibility of income tax returns.
I think they should be closely held, and T can assure
ycu that they will be most judiciously handled as far as

I am concerned.

~

Yes.

QUESTION: Mr. President, looking beyond the Nixon
papers and in view of some criticism in Congress, do you '
believe we may have now reached the point where Presidential
White House papers should remain in the Government's
hands as thas property of the Government?
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THE PRESIDENT: Ass far as I am personally
concerned, I can see a legitimate reason for Presidential
papers remaining the property of the Government. In my
own case, I made a decision some years ago to turn over
all of my Congressional papers, all of my Vice Presidential
papers to the University of Michigan archives.

As far as I am concerned, whether they go to the
archives for use or whether they stay the possession of the
Government, I don't tnlnk it makes too much difference.

I have no desire, personally, to retaln whatever
_papers come out of my Administration.

Mr. Mollenhoff.

QUESTION: Mr. President, at the last press
conference you said, "The code of ethics that will be
followed will be the example that I set.” Do you find
any conflicts of interest in the decision to grant a
sweeping parden to your lifelong friend and your
financial benefactor with no consultation for advice
and judgment for the legal fallout?

THE PRESIDENT: The decision to grant a pardon
to Mr. Nixon was made primarily, as I have expressed, for
the purpose of trying to heal the wounds throughout the
country between Americans on one side of the issue or the
other. Mr. Nixon nominated me for the office of Vice
President. I was confirmed overwhelmingly in the House
as well as in the Senate. Every action I have taken, Mr.
Mollenhoff, is predicated on my consciemce without
any concern or consideration as to favor as far as I am
concerned. :

Yes.

QUESTION: If your intentiom was to heal the
wounds of the Nation, sir, why did you grant only a
conditional amnesty to the Vietnam war wsterans while
granting a full pardon to President Nixom?
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THE PRESIDENT: The only connection between those
two cases is the effort that I made in the one to heal
the wounds involving the charges against Mr. Nixon and my
honest and conscientious effort to heal the wounds
for those who had deserted military service or dodged the

draft. That is the only connection between the two.

In one case, you have a President who was forced
to re81gn because of circumstances involving his Administra-
tion, and he has .been shamed and disgraced by that resig-
nation. In the case of the draft dodgers and Army and
military deserters, we are trying to heal the wounds by
the action that I took with the signing of the Proclamation

“this morning.

QUESTION: Mr. President, another concern that has
been voiced around the country since the pardon is that
the judicial process as it finally unwinds may not write
the definitive chapter on Watergate and serhaps with
parthular regard to Mr. Nixon's PdPthUla” involvenent,
however total, however it may have been in truth. My
questlon is, would you consider appointing a special
commission with extraordinary powers to look into all of
the evidentiary material and to write that chapter and not

leave it to later historny?

THE PRESIDENT: Well, it seems to me as I look
at what has been done, I think you find @ mass of evidence
that has been accumulated. In the first instance, you
have the very intensive investigation conducted by the
House Committee on the Judiciary. It was a very well-
conducted investigation. It came up with volumes of
information. : :

In addition, the Special Presecutor's office
under Mr Jaworski has conducted an intemsive investigation
and the Special Prosecutor's office will issue a report at
the conclusion of their responsibilities that I think will
probably make additional information avzilable to the
American people. ' '
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And thirdly, as thé various criminal trials
proceed in the months ahead, there obviously will be
additional information made available to the American
people. So, when you see what has been done and what
undoubtedly will be done, I think the full story will be
made avallable to the American people.

QUESTION: Mr. President, could you give us an
idea who would succeed General Haig, and how are you
coming on your search for a Press Secretary?

THE PRESIDENT: Do I have a lot of candidates

“here? (Laughter) No shows. (Laughter)

I have several people in mind to replace
General Haig, but I have made no decision on that. It
was just announced today that the NATO countries have
accepted him as the officer handling those responsibilities.

. I think he is to take office succeeding General
Goodpaster on December 15. He assumes his responsi-
bilities as the head of U.S. military forces November 1.

In the next few days undoubtedly I will make the decision
as to the individual to succeed him.

So far as the Press Secretary is concerned,
we are actively working on that, and we hope to have an
announcement in a relatively short period of time.

QUESTION: Mr. President, prior to your deciding
to pardon Mr. Nixon, did you have, apart from those :
reports, any information either from asscciations of the
President or from his family or from any other source
about his health, about his medical condition?

THE PRESIDENT: Prior to the de01s1on that I
made granting a pardon to Mr. Nixon, I had no other
specific information concerning his health other than
what I had read in the news media or heard in the news
media. I had not gotten any information from any of the
Nixon famlly. The sole source was what I had read in
the news media plus one other fact.
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On Saturday before the Sunday, a member of my
staff was working with me on the several decisions I
had to make. He was, from my staff, the one who had
been in negotiations on Friday with the President and
his staff.

At the conclusion of decisions that were made,
I asked him, how did the President look, and he reported
to me his observations. - :

But other than what I had read or heard and
this particular incident, I had no precise information
concerning the President's health.

QUESTION: Mr. President, your own economic
advisers are suggesting that to save the economy, which
is very bad and very pessimistic, we are hearing the
word "depression" used now. I wonder how you feel about
whether we are heading for a depression?

THE. PRESIDENT: Let me say very strongly that
+he ‘United States is not going to have a depression. The
overall economy of the United States is strong. Employment
is still high. We do have the problem of inflation. We
do have related problems, and we are going to come up with
some answers that I hope will solve those problems.

We are not going to have a depression. We are
going to work to make sure that our economy improves in the
months ahead.

QUESTION: Mr. President, in the face of massive
food shortages and the prospects of significant starvation,
will the United States be able to significantly increase its
food aid to foreign countries, and what is our position
going to be at the Rome conference on participation in the
world grain reserves?

THE PRESIDENT: Within the mext few days a
very major decision in this area will be made. I am not
at liberty to tell you what the answer will be because it
has not been decided. “
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But it is my hope that the United States for
humanitarian purposes will be &ble to increase its
contribution to those nations that have suffered because
of drought or any of the other problems related to human
needs. )

o

QUESTION: Back to the CIA, under what inter-
national law do we have a right to attempt todestabilize the
constitutionally-elected government of another country,
and does the Soviet Union have a similar right to try

- to destabilize the Government of Canada, for’ example, or

the United States?

THE PRESIDENT: I am not going to pass judgment

‘on .hether it is permitted or authorized under international

law. It is a recognized fact that historically, as well
as presently, such actions are taken in the best interest
of the countries involved.

QUESTION: Mr. President, last month when you
assumed the Presidency, you pledped openness and candor.
Last week you decided on the. ex-I President's pardon in

‘v1rtua11y total secrecy. Despite all you have said tonight,

there would still seem to be some confusion, some
contradiction.

My question is this: Are the watchwords of
your Administration still openness and candor?

_ ~ THE PRESIDENT: Without any question, without
any reservation. And I think in the one instance that
you cite, it was a sole decision, and believe me, it
wasn't easy, and since I was the only one who could make
that decision, I thought I had to search my own soul
after consulting with a limited number of people, and I

'did it, and I think in the longrun it was the right

decision.
MR. CORMIER: (AP) Thank you, Mr. President.

END ~ (AT 8:30 P.M. EDT)
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THE PRESIDENT: Please sit down.

Ladies and gentlemen, this press conference is
being held at a time when many Americans are observing the
Jewish peligious new year. It begins a period of self-
examination and reconciliation. In opening this press
conference, I am mindful that the spirit of this holy day
has a meaning for all Americans.

In examining one's deeds of the last year and
in assuming responsibility for past actions and personal
decisions, one can reach a point of growth and change. The
purpose of looking back is to go forward with a new and
enlightened dedication to our highest values.

The record of the past year does not have to
be endlessly relived, but can be transformed by commitment
to new insights and new actions in the year to come.

Ladies and gentlemen, I am ready for your
questions.

Mr. Cormier.

QUESTION: Mr. President, some Congressional
Republicans who have talked to you have hinted that you
may have had a secret reason for granting President Nixon
a pardon sooner than you indicated you would at the last
news conference, and I wonder if you could tell us what
that reason was.

THE PRESIDENT: At the outset, let me say I
had no secret reason, and I don't recall telling any
Republican that I had such a reason. Let me review quickly,
if I might, the things that transpired following the last
news conference.
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As many of you know, I answered two, maybe
three questions concerning a pardon at that time. On
return to the office, I felt that I had to have my counsel
undertake a thorough examination as to what my right of
pardon was under the Constitution. I also felt that
it was very important that I find out what legal actions,
if any, were contemplated by the Special Prosecutor.

That information was found out, and it was
indicated to me that the possibility exists, the very
real possibility that the President would be charged with
obstructing justice and ten other possible criminal
actions.

In addition, I asked my general counsel to
find out,if he could, how long such criminal proceedings
would take, from the indictment, the carrying on of the
trial, et cetera, and I was informed that this would
take a year, maybe somewhat longer, for the whole process
to go through.

I also asked my counsel to find out whether
or not under decisions of the judicial system a fair
trial would be given to the former President.

After I got that information, which took two
or three days, I then began to evaluate, in my own mind,

whether or not I should take the action, which I
subsequently did.

Miss Thomas.
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QUESTION: Throughout your Vice Presidencvy,
you said that you didn't believe that former President
Nixon had ever committed an impeachable offense. Is
that still your belief or do you believe that his
acceptance of a pardon implies his guilt, or is an
admission of guilt?

THE PRESIDENT: The fact that 38 members of
the House Committee on the Judiciary, Democrat and
Republican, have unanimously agreed in the report that
was filed that the former President was guilty of an
impeachable offense, I think is very persuasive
evidence.

And the second question, I don't recall --
QUESTION: An admission of guilt?

THE PRESIDENT: Was the acceptance of the
pardon by the President an admission of guilt? The
acceptance of a pardon, I think, can be construed by
many, if not all, as an admission of guilt.

Yes, Mr. Nessen.

QUESTION: What reports have you received on
Mr. Nixon's health, and what effect, if any, did this
have on your decision to pardon him now?

THE PRESIDENT: I have asked Dr. Lukash, who
is the head physician in the White House,to keep me
posted in proper channels as to the former President's
. health. I have been informed on a routine day-to-day
basis, but I don't think I am at liberty to give any
information as to those reports that I have received.

You also asked what impact did the President's
health have on my decision. I think it is well known
that just before I gave my statement at the time that
I gave the pardon I personally wrote in a phrase "the
threat to the President's health,"

The main concern that I had at the time I made
the decision was to heal the wounds throughout the
United States. For a period of 18 months or longer, we
had had turmoil and divisiveness in the American society.
At the same time, the United States had major problems
both at home and abroad that needed the maximum personal
attention of the President and many others in the Govern-
ment.

It seemed to me that as long as this divisiveness
continued, this turmoil existed, caused by the charges
and counter charges, the responsible people in the
Government could not give their total attention to the
problems that we had to solve at home and abroad.
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And the net result was that I was more
anxious to heal the Nation. That was the top priority.
I felt then, and I feel now, that the action I took
will do that. I couldn't be oblivious, however, to
news accounts that I had concerning the President's health,
but the major reason for the action.Itook related to the
effort to reconcile divisions in cur country and to
heal the wounds that had festered far too long.

QUESTION: Mr. President, after you had told us
that you were going to allow the legal process to go on
before you decided whether to pardon him, why did
you decide on Sunday morning,abruptly, to pardon Presi-
dent "Nixon?

THE PRESIDENT: I didn't decide abruptly. I
explained a moment ago the process that I went through
subsequent to the last press conference. When I had
assembled all of that information that came to me
through my counsel, I then most carefully analyzed the
situation in the country and I decided that we could not
afford in America an extended period of continued turmoil
and the fact that the trial, and all of the parts thereof,
would have lasted a year -- perhaps more -- with the
continuation of the divisions in America, I felt that
I should take the action that I did, promptly and
effectively.

QUESTION: Mr. President, I would like to ask you
& question about the decision relating to custody of the
Nixon tapes and documents. Considering the enormous
interest that the Special Prosecutor's office had in
those documents for further investigation, I am wondering
why the negotiations with Mr. Nixon's pepresentatives were
conducted strictly between the counsel in your office
without bringing in discussions with either Mr. Jaworski's
representatives or those from the Justice Department.

THE PRESIDENT: In the first place, I did receive
a memorandum, or legal opinion, from the Department of
Justice which indicated that in the opinion of the
Department of Justice, the documents, tapes, the
ownership of them were in the hands of the former
President. Historically, that has been the case for all
Presidents.

Now, the negotiations for the handling of the
tapes and documents were undertaken and consummated by my
staff and the staff of the former President. I believe
that they have been properly preserved and they will be
available under subpoena for any criminal proceeding.

Now, the Special Prosecutor's staff has indicated some
concern. I am saying tonight that my staff is working with
the Special Prosecutor's staff to try and alleviate

any concerns that they have. I hope a satisfactory
arrangement can be worked out.
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QUESTION: Mr. President, during your
confirmation hearings as Vice President, you said that
you did not think that the country would stand for a
President to pardon his predecessor. Has your mind.been
changed about such public opinion?

THE PRESIDENT: In those hearings before
the Senate Committee on Rules and Administration, I
was asked a hypothetical question, and in answer to
that hypothetical question I responded by saying that
I did not think the American people would stand for such
an action.

Now that I am in the White House and don't
have to answer hypothetical questions but have to
deal with reality, it was my judgment, after analyzing
all of the facts, that it was in the best interest of
the United States for me to take the action that I did.

I think if you will reread what I said in
answer to that hypothetical question, I did not say I
wouldn't. I simply said that under the way the question
was phrased, the American people would object.

But I am absolutely convinced when dealing with
reality in this very, very 'difficult situation, that
I made the right decision in an effort, an honest,
conscientious effort, to end the divisions and the
turmoil in the United States.

Mr. Lisagor.

QUESTION: Mr. President, is there any safe-
guard in the tapes agreement that was made with Mr. Nixon,
first,with their destruction in the event anything
happens to him, because under the agreement they will
be destroyed, and secondly, should not the tapes be
kept in the White House until the Special Prosecutor has
finished dealing with them?

THE PRESIDENT: The tapes and the documents
are still in our possession and we are, as I said a
moment ago, working with the Special Prosecutor's office,
to alleviate any concerns they have as to their disposition
and their availability.

The agreement as to destruction is quite clear-
cut. As long as Mr. Nixon is alive and during the
period of time that is set forth, they are available for
subpoena by a court involving any criminal proceedings.
I think this is a necessary requirement for the protection
of evidence for any such action.
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QUESTION: Mr. President, recent Congress-
ional testimony has indicated that the CIA, under the
direction of a committee headed by Dr. Kissinger,
attempted to destablize the Government of Chile under
former President Allende.

Is it the policy of your Administration to
attempt to destabilize the governments of other
democra@ies?

THE PRESIDENT: Let me answer in general. I
think this is a very important question.

Our Government, like other governments, does
take certain actions in the intelligence field to help
implement foreign policy and protect national security. I
am informed reliably that Communist nations spend vastly
more money than we do for the same kind of purposes.

Now, in this partlcular case, as I understand
1t, and there is no doubt in my mind, our Government had no
involvement whatsoever in the Allende coup. To my
knowledge, nobody has charged that. The facts are we had
no involvement in any way whatsoever in the coup itself.

In a period of time, three or four years ago,
there was an effort being made by the Allende government
to destroy opposition news media, both the writing press
as well as the electronic press,and to destroy opposition
political parties.

The effort that was made in this case was:
to help and assist the preservation of opposition news-
papers and electronic media and to preserve opposition
political parties.

I think this is in the best interest of the
people in Chile, and certainly in our best interest.

Now, may I add one further comment.

The 40 committee was established in 19u48. It
has been in existence under Presidents since that time.
That committee reviewg every covert operation undertaken
by our Government, and that information is relayed to the
responsible Congressional committees where it is reviewed
by House and Senate committees.

It seems to me that the 40 committee should
continue in existence, and I am going to meet with the
responsible Congressional committees to see whether or
not they want any changes in the review process so that
the Congress, as well as the President, are fully informed
and are fully included in the operations fer any such
action.
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QUESTION: In view of public reaction, do
you think the Nixon pardon really served to bind up the
Nation's wounds? I wonder if you would assess public
reaction to that move.

THE PRESIDENT: I must say that the decision
has created more antagonism than I anticipated. But as
I look over the long haul with a trial or several trials
of a former President, criminal trials, the
possibility of a former President being in the dock so
to speak, and the divisions that would have existed not
just for a limited period of time, but for a long
period of time, it seems to me that when I had the
choice batween that possibility and the possibility of
taking direct action hoping to conclude it, I am
still convinced, despite the public reaction so far, that
the decision I made was the right one.

QUESTION: Mr. President, in regard to the
pardon, you talk about the realities of the situation.
Now those realities rightly or wrongly included a good
many people who speculate atcut whether or not there is
some sort of arrangement -- even some of them call a deal --~
between you and the former President or between your staff
and his staff, resignation in exchange for a full pardon.

The question is: Is there or was there, to
your knowledge, any kind of understanding about this?

THE PRESIDENT: There was no understanding, no
deal between me and the former President, nor between my
staff and the staff of the former President, none
whatsoever.

QUESTION: Mr. President, there is a bill that
the Treasury Department has put forward, I think it is
about 38 pages. Under this bill, which deals with getting
hold of the returns, Internal Revenue returns of the
citizens of the country, you could take action to get those
returns whenever you wanted to.

I wonder if you are aware of this, and if you
feel that you need to get those returns of citizens.
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THE PRESIDENT: It is my understanding that a
President has, by tradition and practice, and by law,
the right to have access to income tax returns. I
personally think that is something that should be kept
very closely held. A person's income tax return is
a very precious thing to that individual and, therefore,
I am about to issue an Executive Order that makes it even
more restrictive as to how those returns can be handled
and I do think that a proposed piece of legislation that is
coming to me and subsequently will be submitted, as I
recollect, to the Congress would also greatly tighten up
the availability or accessibility of income tax returns.
I think they should be closely held and I can assure
you that they will be most judiciously handled as far as I
am concerned.

Yes.

QUESTION: Mr. President, looking beyond the Nixon
papers and ‘in view of scme criticism in Congress, do you believe
we may have now reached the point where Presidential
White House papers should remain in the Government's
hands as the property of the Government?

THE PRESIDENT: As far as I am personally
concerned, I can see a legitimate reason for Presidential
papers remaining the property of the Government. In my
own case, I made a decision some years ago to turn over
all of my Congressional papers, all of my Vice Presidential
papers to the University of Michigan archives.

As far as I am concerned, whether they go to the
archives for use or whether they stay the possession of the
Government, I don't think it makes too much difference.

I have no desire, personally, to retain whatever
papers come out of my Administration.

Mr. Mollenhoff.

QUESTION: Mr. President, at the last press
conference you said, "The code of ethics that will be
followed will be the example that I set." Do you find
any confliets of interest in the decision to grant a
sweeping pardon to your life-long friend and your
financial benefactor with no consultation for advice
and judgment for the legal fallout?

THE PRESIDENT: The decision to grant a pardon
to Mr. Nixon was made primarily, as I have expressed, for
the purpose of trying to heal the wounds throughout the
country between Americans on one side of the issue or the
other. Mr. Nixon nominated me for the office of Vice
President. I was confirmed overwhelmingly in the House
as well as in the Senate. Every action I have taken,

Mr. Mollenhoff, is predicated on my conscience without
any concern or consideration as to favor as far as I am
concerned.
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Yes.

QUESTION: If your intention was to heal the
wounds of the Nation, sir, why did you grant only a
conditional amnesty to the Vietnam war veterans while
granting a full pardon to President Nixon?

THE PRESIDENT: The only connection between those
two cases is the effort that I made in the one to heal
the wounds involving the charges against Mr. Nixon and my
honest and conecientious effort to heal the wounds
for those who had deserted military service or dodged the
draft. That is the only connection between the two.

In one case, you have a President who was forced
to resign because of circumstances involving his Administra-
tion and he has been shamed and disgraced by that resigna-
tion. In the case of the draftdodgers and Army and
military deserters, we are trying to heal the wounds by
the action that I took with the signing of the proclama-
tion this morning.

QUESTION: Mr, President, another concern that has
been voiced around the country since the pardon is that
the judicial process as it finally unwinds may not write
the definitive chapter on Watergate and perhaps with par-
ticular regard to Mr. Nixon's particular involvement,
however total, however it may have been in truth, My
question is, would you consider appointing a special
commission with extraordinary powers to look into all of the
evidentiary material and to write that chapter and not
leave it to later history?

THE PRESIDENT: Well, it seems to me as I look
at what has been done, I think you find a mass of evidence
that has been accummulated. In the first instance, you
have the very intensive investigation conducted by the
House Committee on the Judiciary. It was a very well-
conducted investigation. It came up with velumes of
information.

In addition, the Special Prosecutor's office
under Mr. Jaworski has conducted an intensive investigation
and the Special Prosecutor's office will issue a report at
the conclusion of their responsibilities that I think will
probably make additional information available to the
American people.

And thirdly, as the various criminal trials proceed

in the months ahead, there obviously will be additional
information made available to the American people. So,
when you see what has been done and what undoubtedly

will be done, I think the full story will be made available
to the American people.
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QUESTION: Mr. President, could you give us an
idea who would succeed General Haig,and how are you
coming on your search for a Press Secretary?

THE PRESIDENT: Do I have a lot of candidates
here? (Laughter) No shows. (Laughter)

I have several people in mind to replace
General Haig, but I have made no decision on that. It
was just announced today that the NATO countries have
accepted him as the officer handling those responsibilities.

I think he is to take office succeeding General
Goodpaster on December 15. He assumes his responsi-
bilities as the head of U.S. military forces November 1.
In the next few days undoubtedly I will make the decision
as to the individual to succeed him.

So far as the Press Secretary is concerned,
we are actively working on that and we hope to have an
announcement in a relatively short period of time.

QUESTION: Mr. President, prior to your deciding
to pardon Mr. Nixon, did you have, apart from those
reports, any information either from associations of the
President or from his family or from any other source
about his health, about his medical condition?

THE PRESIDENT: Prior to the decision that I
made granting a pardon to Mr. Nixony I had no other
specific information concerning his health other than
what I had read in the news media or heard in the news
media. I had not gotten any information from any of the
Nixon family. The sole source was what I had read in
the news media plus one other fact.

On Saturday before the Sunday a member of my
staff was working with me on the several decisions I
had to make. He was, from my staff, the one who had
been in negotiations on Friday with the President and
his staff.

At the conclusion of decisions that were made,
I asked him, how did the President look, and he reported
to me his observations.

But other than what I had read or heard and
this particular incident, I had no precise information
concerning the President's health.
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QUESTION: Mr. President, your own economic
advisers are suggesting that to save the economy which
is very bad and very pessimistic, we are hearing the
word "depression" used now. I wonder how you feel about
whether we are heading for a depression?

THE PRESIDENT: Let me say very strongly that
the United States is not going to have a depression. The
overall economy of the United States is strong. Employment
is still high. We do have the problem of inflation. We
do have related problems, and we are going to come up with
some answers that I hope will solve those problems.

We are not going to have a depression. We are
going to work to make sure that our economy improves in’ the
months ahead.

QUESTION: Mr, President, in the face of massive
food shortages and the prospects of significant starvation,
will the United States be able to significantly increase its
food aid to foreign countries, and what is our position
going to be at the Rome conference on participation in
the world grain reserves?

THE PRESIDENT: Within the next few days a
very major decision in this area will be made. I am not
at liberty to tell you what the answer will be because
it has not been decided.

But it is my hope that the United States for
humanitarian purposes will be able to increase its
contribution to those nations that have suffered because
of drought or any of the other problems related to human
needs.
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QUESTION: Back to the CIA, under what inter-
national law do we have a right to attempt to destablize the
constitutionally-elected government of another country,
and does the Soviet Union have a similar right to try
to destabilize the Government of Canada, for example, or
the United States?

THE PRESIDENT: I am not going to pass judgment
on whether it is permitted or authorized under
international law. It is a recognized fact that historically,
as well as presently, such actions are taken in the best
interest of the countries involved.

QUESTION: Mr. President, last month when you
assumed the Presidency, you pledged openness and candor.
Last week you decided on the ex-President's pardon in
virtually total secrecy. Despite all you have said tonight,
there would still seem to be some confusion, some
contradiction.

My question is this: Are the watchwords of
your Administration still openness and candor?

THE PRESIDENT: Without any question, without
any reservation. And I think in the one instance that
you cite, it was a sole decision, and believe me, it
wasn't easy, and since I was the only one who could make
that decision, I thought I had to search my own soul
after consulting with a limited number of people, and I
did it, and I think in the longrun it was the right
decision.

THE PRESS: Thank you, Mr. President.

END (AT 8:30 P.M. EDT)





